

Towards a Canola Quality Resynthesized Rapeseed (*Brassica napus* L.): *B. oleracea* Genotypes as a Basic Resource

Fatih Seyis

Field Crops Department, Faculty of Agriculture, Yozgat, Turkey Corresponding author: fatih.seyis@bozok.edu.tr

ABSTRACT

Brassica oleracea is a well known species of the *Brassica* genus. With the other *Brassica* species, namely *B. rapa*, *B. nigra*, *B. juncea*, *B. carinata* and *B. napus*, it forms the so called U triangle. Genotypes derived from several locally distributed members of the genus *Brassica* have become one of the most important vegetable oil resources worldwide because of substantial progress in breeding and cultivation practices. Efforts to develop low erucic character in several *Brassica* species led to the discovery of low-erucic acid mutants in the species *Brassica rapa* (AA), *B. napus* (AACC) and *Brassica juncea* (AABB). In amphidiploid *B. carinata* (BBCC) low erucic acid mutants were not known up to the 1990's. Using different strategies low erucic acid forms were successfully selected in the subsequent years. Up to now low erucic acid forms of *B. nigra* (BB) have not been cited in the literature. *B. oleracea* genotypes displaying low erucic acid were discovered at the end of the 1990's. These genotypes were used to develop 0-quality resynthesized rapeseed forms via interspecific crosses with different quality *B. rapa* forms. The diploid cabbages, one of the progenitors of rapeseed (*B. napus*), are highly useful as basic breeding material of *Brassica napus*. With this respect, the low erucic acid cabbage genotypes with their potential use in *Brassica* breeding and further use will be discussed in this review.

Keywords: *Brassica*, rapeseed breeding, interspecific hybridization Abbreviations: RS-lines, resynthesized rapeseed lines

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	
Cytogenetic relationships between Brassica species	
History of canola quality	
Detection of <i>B. oleracea</i> genotypes displaying edible oil quality	
Resynthesized rapeseed as a tool for broadening genetic diversity	
Resynthesized rapeseed forms as a resource in <i>B. napus</i> hybrid breeding	
Development of zero erucic acid resynthesized rapeseed	
SYNTHESIS	
CONCLUSIONS	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
REFERENCES	

INTRODUCTION

The genus *Brassica* is economically the most important genus in the Brassicaceae family (syn. Cruciferae). Several *Brassica* species/types can be classified as significant oil-seed crops, vegetables and forage crops. *Brassica* species, such as mustard, are used in the production of condiments. Further they are widely used in the national cuisines of many countries and they are recognized as a valuable source of dietary fiber. Besides a low content of fats their vegetable forms contain vitamins, minerals and fiber also a large number of novel phytochemicals, some of which provide protection against carcinogenesis (Steinmetz and Potter 1996).

On the global level, *Brassica* crops are economically the most important oilseeds. The oilseed Brassicas are found within *Brassica juncea*, *Brassica carinata*, *Brassica rapa* (syn. *Brassica campestris*) and *Brassica napus*. Low glucosinolate and low erucic acid varieties are increasingly commonly referred as canola, a more pleasant-sounding name. Canola, which is most often *B. napus*, has received much attention worldwide and may soon become the most popular oilseed crop (Snowdon *et al.* 2007).

Presently, canola-quality *B. rapa* and *B. juncea* varieties are also available. Canola oil is widely used in cooking since it is very low in saturated fat, making it appealing to healthconscious consumers.

While most research in *Brassica* crops has been performed on oilseed and vegetable biotypes, rapid-cycling *Brassica* biotypes of various species have startet to gain attention in recent years. In addition to Brassica crops and rapid-cycling models, the genus contains several weedy species, of which *B. rapa* is the most important (Cardoza and Stewart 2004).

Cytogenetic relationships between *Brassica* species

The chromosomal relationships among the A, B and C genomes of the diploid *Brassica rapa* (genome AA, 2n = 20; turnip rape, turnip, Chinese cabbage), *B. nigra* (genome BB, 2n = 16; black mustard) and *B. oleracea* (genome CC,



Fig. 1 The *Brassica* triangle of species, as described by U (1935), representing the A, B and C genomes and their respective amphidiploids that arose from spontaneous chromosome doubling via meiotic nondisjunction after interspecific hybridizations in regions of overlapping geographical distribution of the respective diploid progenitors.

2n = 18; cabbage, cauliflower, broccoli, kale, kohlrabi, brussel sprouts) and their natural spontaneous amphidiploids *B. carinata* (genome AABB, 2n = 34; Abyssinian or Ethiopian mustard), B. napus (genome AACC, 2n = 38; oilseed rape, swede) and *B. juncea* (genome BBCC, 2n = 36; Indian or brown mustard) were elucidated through interspecific crosses and meiotic analyses made by the Asian cytogeneticists Morinaga and U in the early 20th century (Morinaga 1933, 1934; U 1935). Because the Brassica amphidiploid species can be generated synthetically with the help of embryo rescue techniques, this complex of the three diploid species and their polyploids (Fig. 1) is today one of the most useful model systems for investigations of polyploidy in crop plants (e.g. Song et al. 1995; Lukens et al. 2006). Colchicine treatment can also be used to artificially synthesize autotetraploid Brassicas, which can potentially be used to compare the corresponding effects of gene dosage, autoploidy, alloploidy and amphiploidy on gene regulation and expression (Snowdon 2009).

History of canola quality

B. napus was cultivated by ancient civilisations in Asia and the Mediterranean. Its use has been recorded as early as 2000 BC in India and has been grown in Europe since the 13th century, primarily for its use as lamp oil (Colton and Sykes 1992). *B. napus* was first grown commercially for use as a lubricant on war ships. Traditionally, *B. napus* is unsuitable for human food or animal feed due to the presence of two naturally occurring toxicants, erucic acid and glucosinolates.

Early rapeseed cultivars had high levels of erucic acid in the oil and glucosinolates in the meal. The presence of these components in rapeseeds caused serious health concerns. The high levels of erucic acid are responsible for producing fatty deposits in the heart, skeletal muscles, and adrenals of rodents as well as for impairing their growth. Plant breeding programs initiated in Canada resulted in the identification of Liho, a rapeseed line containing low levels of erucic acid in 1959. A program of backcrossing and selection was conducted to transfer the low erucic acid trait into agronomically adapted cultivars (Przybylski et al. 2005). This led to the first low erucic acid cultivar of B. napus, 'Oro', in 1968 and the first low erucic acid B. rapa cultivar, 'Span', in 1971. Because of the health concerns related to high levels of erucic acid, over 95% of the rapeseed grown in Canada in 1974 were low erucic acid varieties. Glucosinolates were also considered detrimental in rapeseed meal fed to poultry, swine, and ruminants. The hydrolyzed products of glucosinolates, namely, isothiocyanates and other sulphur-containing compounds, were shown to interfere with the uptake of iodine by the thyroid gland,

contribute to liver disease, and reduce growth and weight gain in animals. Consequently, plant breeders realized that if rapeseed meal was to be used as animal feed, the glucosinolate content should be reduced. A Polish line with a low-glucosinolate trait, Bronowski, was identified by Dr. Krzymanski in the late 1950s. Breeding efforts to introduce this trait into low erucic acid lines made by Dr. Baldur Stefansson at the University of Manitoba resulted in the release of the world's first low erucic acid, low glucosinolate cultivar of *B. napus*, often called the double-zero rapeseed. This was followed in 1977 by the release of the first low erucic acid, low glucosinolate cultivar of *B. rapa*, Candle, by Dr. Keith Downey of the National Research Council of Canada in Saskatoon (Przybylski *et al.* 2005).

Detection of *B. oleracea* genotypes displaying edible oil quality

Due to substantial progress in breeding and cultivation practice in rapeseed and mustards-derived from several locally distributed members of the genus *Brassica*-have become one of the most important source of vegetable oil worldwide. Especially in several European countries with cool-temperate climates oilseed rape (*B. napus*) with 'double-low' seed quality (canola) dominates field crop production (Seyis *et al.* 2004). Regarding this quality characters, low-erucic acid mutants were found in *B. rapa* (AA) (Downey 1964), *B. napus* (AACC) (Stefansson *et al.* 1961, 1964) and *B. juncea* (AABB) (Kirk and Oram 1978).

First low erucic acid mutants of amphidiploid *B. Carinata* (BBCC) were developed in the 1990's. Different strategies, such as the selection of transgressive segregants in the crossing progeny of diverse *B. carinata* accessions (Alonso *et al.* 1991), induced mutations and interspecific crosses with low-erucic *B. napus* and *B. juncea* (Getinet 1987; Fernández-Escobar *et al.* 1988) were used to reduce the erucic acid content. Low erucic acid forms have been successfully selected using the first and last mentioned method (Alonso 1991; Getinet *et al.* 1994). Low-erucic acid forms of the monogenomic species *B. nigra* have not been detected yet.

B. oleracea genotypes displaying zero erucic acid character were first mentioned by Lühs *et al.* (2000). Two of these genotypes, namely Ladozshkaya and Kashirka, were described by Seyis *et al.* (2004). The description include their vernalization requirement, flowering biology, fatty acid composition and glycosinolate content. Kashirka and Ladozhskaya both display vernalization requirement (14 weeks at 5°C for Kashirka and up to 18 weeks at 5°C for Ladozshkaya. Both genotypes are self-compatible and seed set could be achieved after pollination by hand. Their flowers are typical *Brassica* flowers, leaves are small and transverse broad elliptic, the oleic acid content of Kashirka and Ladozskaya is 57.40 and 56.21% respectively, heir glucosinolate content measured with NIRS (Near Infrared Restriction Spectroscopy) is 63.4 and 129.5 µmol g/DM, respectively.

Further, Seyis and Friedt (2010a) described the fatty acid composition of three *B. oleracea* genotypes including Kashirka and Ladozskaya; the third accession was Eisenkopf. They obviously emphasized the varying fatty acid composition of these genotypes which ranged from zero up to over 45% of erucic acid. They identified three groups on the basis of erucic acid content: low, intermediate and high erucic acid group. They further underlined the possibility of using this basic material as a genetic resource for quality and yield improvement in oilseed rape breeding.

In addition to fatty acid composition of these genotypes, the genomic Southern analysis and PCR-amplifications of different *Brassica* species including Ladozhskaya (Lühs *et al.* 1999) revealed that the progeny of the *B. oleracea* accession Ladozshkaya DS 8395 had a completely different pattern with no signal in the selection for zero of this cabbage meaning partial or complete deletion of the *KCS* gene. The latter result was verified through PCR analysis with a KCS-specific primer pair, where the 1.25 kb fragment characteristic for all other genotypes was not amplified in the case of zero erucic acid mutant.

Resynthesized rapeseed as a tool for broadening genetic diversity

Genetic diversity of oilseed rape is considered to be low because of the short cropping history and the strong breeding focus on seed quality characters, i.e. low erucic acid and glucosinolate contents which narrowed down the genetic base (Friedt and Snowdon 2009). The resynthesis of oilseed rape from its diploid progenitors cabbage and turnip is therefore practised in order to broaden the genetic base of oilseed rape (Becker *et al.* 1995; Seyis *et al.* 2003a; Basunanda *et al.* 2007), although resynthesized rapeseed lines exhibit a low yield potential and inferior seed quality. According to Snowdon *et al.* (2007) resynthesis has repeatedly been used for gene introgression into cultivars, e.g., resistance to various diseases resistances or yellow seed color.

Several studies have been started with the objective of resynthesizing rapeseed (*B. napus* L.) from its diploid progenitors.

Breeding for agronomic and economic values tends to bias the exploitation of genetic variation (Friedt et al. 2007). Therefore, it is necessary to continuously integrate diverse germplasm into the breeding process in order to maintain a high level of genetic diversity. The, resynthesis of novel B. napus genotypes through artificial crosses between the diploid parents, assisted by embryo rescue, has repeatedly been shown to be useful for broadening the genetic basis of rapeseed. Both progenitor species exhibit an extremely broad genetic anod phenotypic diversity that are the potential for a huge variety of different RS rapeseed forms (Chen and Heneen 1989; Song et al. 1993; Lühs et al. 2000). The relatively high extent of intergenomic recombination between A and C genome chromosomes in early generations of RS rape further increases the potential for development of novel genotypes through resynthesis (Song et al. 1993; Lydiate et al. 1995).

The resynthesis of B. napus genotypes through interspecific hybridization between the diploid parents, assisted by embryo rescue, has repeatedly been shown to be useful for broadening the genetic basis of rapeseed. For example, Becker et al. (1995) investigated genetic distances between resynthesized lines and B. napus varieties by RFLP and allozyme markers and suggested that resynthesized lines might be a valuable source for broadening the genetic base of the breeding material of Seyis et al. (2003a), who analysed genetic distances of six families of resynthesized lines, spring oilseed and fodder rape cultivars by means of AFLP marker. Udall et al. (2004) described the introgression of resynthesized B. napus into hybrid spring canola as a source of novel alleles for the improvement of canola spring hybrids. However, poor agronomic performance and undesired seed quality traits such as high seed erucic acid and glucosinolate contents in resynthesized lines complicate their direct introduction of resynthesized lines into hybrid breeding programs. Backcrossing genetically diverse resynthesized lines into well adapted breeding material to establish a heterotic genepool for hybrid breeding is a labor intensive approach and a long-term perspective, and appropriate resynthesized lines would have to be carefully selected (Girke et al. 2012).

Becker *et al.* (1995) suggested the use of resynthesized rapeseed to develop a complementary genepool for hybrid breeding of European winter oilseed rape. To introduce canola quality, crosses with adapted material and subsequent backcrossing to resynthesized material are required, followed by recurrent selection for agronomically important genes.

Hybrids produced from crosses between genetically diverse resynthesized rapeseed and adapted oilseed types showed a high yield potential (Seyis *et al.* 2005a). The relationship between genetic distance and heterosis in oilseed

rape was investigated by Diers *et al.* (1996) using RFLP markers. A similar study was performed by Riaz *et al.* (2001) using Sequence Related Amplified Polymorphic (SRAP) markers. The latter study demonstrated that crosses among genotypes from genetically divergent clusters tended to show higher levels of heterosis for seed yield and other traits.

Resynthesized rapeseed forms as a resource in *B. napus* hybrid breeding

The availability of genetically distant plant material is of great importance for hybrid breeding programs based on exploiting expected heterosis effects. These effects increase when parents with relatively different genetic base are used. An advantage of hybrids compared with open-pollinated cultivars is the yield stability under unfavourable conditions due to their heterozygous genotype (Wricke and Weber 1986; Léon 1991).

Due to the present transition from pure line breeding to hybrid breeding, genetic diversity in oilseed rape is receiving new attention, as heterotic pools of accessions with sufficiently large genetic distance need to be formed for maximum hybrid performance (Snowdon et al. 2007). Significant relationships between parental genetic distance and hybrid oilseed rape performance have been described (Diers et al. 1996; Riaz et al. 2001; Shen et al. 2006), but were not considered in detail. For improvement of hybrid performance, Quijada et al. (2004) suggested the introgression of European winter oilseed rape genomic segments into Canadian spring canola, as superior hybrid performance was found in testcrosses between these two genepools. A different strategy for increasing hybrid performance of oilseed rape has been proposed by Li et al. (2006), who found considerable heterosis in crosses between natural *Brassica* napus parents and a new type of Brassica napus containing the A subgenome of *B*. *rapa* and the C subgenome of *B*. carinata thus realizing intersubgenomic heterosis.

Heterosis effects are generally higher in crosses of genetically distant rapeseed materials. Lefort-Buson et al. (1987) determined higher yields in spring rapeseed hybrids, which were developed from genetically divergent spring rapeseed cultivars than traditional rapeseed varieties. The advantage of hybrid cultivars over cultivars derived from pure line breeding is not only the use of heterosis for increasing yield, also yield stability is high due to the heterozygous structure of hybrids (Paulmann and Frauen 1991). The superiority of hybrids specially becomes obvious in unfavourable conditions. Based on three year results Becker (1987) showed that the relative level of heterosis in the unfavourable year was two fold higher compared with the favorable year. The potential for hybrid rapeseed cultivars is well documented (Schuster and Michael 1976; Sernyk and Stefansson 1983; Grant and Beversdorf 1985; Lefort-Buson et al. 1987; Brandle and McVetty 1990). For this aim different pollination systems were developed (Buzza 1995). Cytoplasmatic male sterility (CMS systems) like the Ogu/ INRA CMS-System (Renard et al. 1997), and the Male sterility system (MSL system) (Paulmann and Frauen 1998). As oilseed rape breeders today are seeking for genetic diversity in their hybrid breeding programmes resynthesized B. napus (RS lines) forms are gaining interest (Girke 2002; Lühs et al. 2002). Because of the low yield potential of RS lines their use is more directed to developing semisynthetic rapeseed forms (Kräling 1987; Friedt et al. 2003) or backcross breeding procedures to introgress the novel genetic diversity.

Seyis *et al.* (2010b) conducted a study to determine the general combining ability (GCA) of different rapeseed material. Nine high-erucic acid RS lines and three old spring rapeseed cultivars were used as pollinators of malesterile double-low spring rapeseed lines (MSL system). Yield performance of the single-cross hybrids was tested in a two year field trial in Rauischholzhausen/Germany. It revealed that the semi-synthetic rapeseed hybrids based on

RS lines had a higher yield potential. The developed test hybrids had 1-15% higher yield compared with the control cultivar, 'Senator'.

The same material was sown by the same investigators (Seyis *et al.* 2005a) in field trials organized in the locations of Rauischholzhausen and Hohenlieth/Germany and in Dyngby/Denmark. The yield performance of the single-cross hybrids again revealed a high yield potential of semi-synthetic rapeseed hybrids based on the RS lines.

In 1995 and 1996, Girke *et al.* (1999) investigated 12 F_1 -hybrids between the spring rapeseed "Korall" and resynthesized rapeseed lines in field trails established in two locations Svalöv, Sweden and Dyngby, Denmark. Midparent heterosis was calculated as 32%. The hybrids revealed an average heterosis of 9.5% in comparison with the higher yielding parent. Some of the crosses exceeded the yield of their superior parent up to 21%. In consideration of the small number of the investigated resynthesized genotypes, these results indicated the potential that resynthesized oilseed rape might offer to hybrid breeding.

Development of zero erucic acid resynthesized rapeseed

Seyis *et al.* (2005b) were the first to report the existence of resynthesized rapeseed forms displaying low erucic acid content. They used the embryo rescue technique to develop amphidiploid RS-lines using the *B. oleracea* genotypes Kashirka and Eisenkopf and the *B. rapa* form Asko. The erucic acid content of developed RS lines varied between 43.09 and 63.14%.

Seyis *et al.* (2003b) crossed two spring type (Reward and apetalous turnip rape) and two winter type *B. rapa* forms (Q3F and SWSP) with the *B. oleracea* genotypes Kashirka and Lazdozshkaya. Totally 468 hybrids were obtained in this study and individual plants of different crossing combinations were analyzed for fatty acid composition and those erucic acid contents displayed nearby zero.

Further, during a TUBİTAK project, Seyis *et al.* (2010c) developed 227 resynthesized rapeseed forms using the two cabbage accessions Kashirka and Ladozshkaya and the two inter *B. rapa* forms 15591 and 15080 displaying 00-quality. The developed RS lines obtained from different crossing combinations were used to develop rapeseed hybrids by crossing them with the male sterile lines MSL 004C, MSL 007C, MSL 501C and MSL 506C. The first two male sterile lines were winter forms and the last two lines were spring forms. The authors were able to obtain seed from 19 hybrids based on the mentioned RS lines. The erucic acid content of the developed hybrids was determined as near zero and their oleic acid content ranged from 55.56% to 73.14.

SYNTHESIS

The major problem of the use of resynthesized rapeseed forms in quality breeding is their high glucosinolate content arising from the same character originating from the *B. ole-racea* parent. To introduce canola quality in RS-lines, crossing with adapted material and subsequent backcrossing to resynthesized material are required, followed by recurrent selection for agronomic performance (Girke *et al.* 2012).

Another approach should be the reduction of the glucosinolate content of the *B. oleracea* parent. Applicable methods may be the irradiation of *B. oleracea* seeds or interspecific hybridization of *B. oleracea* with related *Brassica* species, because the selection of cabbage genotypes with low glucosinolate content may be a long and uncertain approach since no such material has been detected so far. Yet another method could be the cultivation of the low erucic acid genotypes *in vitro* since tissue culture causes the well known somaclonal variation, which may lead to a breakdown in the high glucosinolate level.

As explained in this paper, RS lines can be used only in the development of intraspecific or semisynthetic hybrids or in the development of interspecific rapeseed hybrids based on RS lines using male sterile *B. napus*, because of the low yield performance of these lines.

The presence of the three *B. oleracea* genotypes displaying low erucic content offers new possibilities to increase the yield performance of *B. napus*. As found by Seyis *et al.* (2005a) rapeseed hybrids based on RS-lines are higher yielding compared with the presently breeding material. The material used in this study was spring-type.

However, the low erucic acid *B. oleracea* genotypes are winter types. If they can be selected regarding their seed yield performance, their use in developing new RS-lines can offer the way for the further yield improvement in *B. napus*, because of using winter types the expected yield heterosis will be higher.

CONCLUSIONS

B. napus, the source of a highly nutritional vegetable oil and at the same time a valuable renewable resource for the biofuel industry, is currently the most important oilseed crop in Europe and Asia, and the second most important oilseed worldwide following soybean. Patterns of genetic and phenotypic diversity were studied in winter-type and spring-type B. napus gene bank collections, including oilseed, fodder and vegetable rape varieties of diverse geographical origins. Brassica oilseeds have become a significant agricultural product during the past 30 year and are now the world's third-leading source of both vegetable oil (after soybean and oil palm) and oil meal (after soybean and cotton). In Europe and Asia oilseed rape (predominantly from Brassica napus L.) is today the most important source of vegetable oil for human nutrition and as a renewable fuel. The dramatic increase in demand for *Brassica* oils places increasing pressure on plant breeders to continuously improve seed and oil yields, the overall agronomical performance and the quality of the oil and of the meal that remains after oil extraction (Snowdon 2009)

The described *B. oleracea* material can be the base of both quality and yield breeding of *B. napus* in future, because the *B. oleracea* gene pool together with that of *B. rapa* offers a indispensable source for its genetic diversity.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author thanks Prof. Dr. Wolfgang Friedt for the highly improving education during the Ph.D. work in Germany and TUBITAK for the scientific in the context of the support during the Career Project 104O63. The author thanks also Norddeutsche Pflanzenzucht Hans-Georg Lembke KG (Hohenlieth, Germany) for providing plant material of sterile MSL-female lines during the TUBITAK career Project.

REFERENCES

- Alonso LC, Fernadez-Serrano O, Fernadez-Escobar J (1991) The outset of a new oilseed crop: *Brassica carinata* with low erucic acid content. In: *Proceedings of the 8th International Rapeseed Congress* (GCIRC), Saskatoon, Canada, pp 170-176
- Basunanda P, Spiller TH, Hasan M, Gehringer A, Schondelmaier J, Lühs W, Friedt W, Snowdon RJ (2007) Marker-assisted increase of genetic diversity in a double-low seed quality winter oilseed rape genetic background. *Plant Breeding* 126, 581-587
- Becker HC (1987) Quantitative Genetik und Zuchtmethodik bei Raps Versuch einer Literaturübersicht. In: Bericht d. AG d. Saatzuchtleiter, Bundesversuchsanstalt für alpenländische Landwirtschaft, Gumpenstein, pp 67-82
- Becker HC, Engqvist GM, Karlsson B (1995) Comparison of rapeseed cultivars and resynthesized lines based on allozyme and RFLP markers. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* **91**, 62-67
- Brandle JÉ, McVetty PBE (1990) Geographical diversity, parental selection and heterosis in oilseed rape. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science* 70, 935-940
 Buzza GC (1995) Plant breeding. In: Kimber D, McGregor DJ (Eds) *Brassica*
- Oilseeds Production and Utilization, CABI, Wallingford, UK, pp 153-175
- Cardoza V, Stewart CN Jr. (2004) Brassica biotechnology: Progress in cellular and molecular biology. In Vitro Cell and Developmental Biology – Plant 40, 542-551
- Chen Y, Heneen WK (1989) Resynthesized Brassica napus L.: A review of its potential in breeding and genetic analysis. *Hereditas* 111, 255-263

- Colton RT, Sykes JD (1992) Canola. AgFact P5.2.1 (4th Edn), New South Wales Agriculture, Orange, NSW, Australia, 52 pp
- Diers BW, McVetty PBE, Osborn TC (1996) Relationship between heterosis and genetic distance based on restriction fragment length polymorphism markers in oilseed rape (*Brassica napus* L.). Crop Science 36, 79-83
- **Downey RK** (1964) A selection of *Brassica campestris* L. containing no erucic acid in its seed oil. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science* **44**, 499-504
- Fernandez-Escobar J, Dominguez J, Martin A, Fernadez-Martinez JM (1988) Genetics of the erucic acid content in interspecific hybids of Ethiopian mustard (*Brassica carinata* Braun) and rapeseed (*B. napus* L.). *Plant Breeding* **100**, 310-315
- Friedt W, Lühs W, Müller M, Ordon F (2003) Utility of winter oilseed rape (*Brassica napus* L.) cultivars and new breeding lines for low-input cropping systems. *German Jornal of Agronomy* 2, 49-55
- Friedt W, Snowdon R, Ordon F, Ahlemeyer J (2007) Assessment of genetic diversity in crop plants and its exploitation in breeding. In: *Progress in Botany*, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, pp 151-178
- Friedt W, Snowdon RJ (2009) Oilseed rape. In: Oil Crops. Handbook of Plant Breeding, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, pp 91-126
- Getinet A (1987) Review on breeding of Ethiopian mustard (*Brassica carinata* A. Braun). In: *Proceedings of the 7th International Rapeseed Congress* (GCIRC), Poznan, Poland, pp 593-597
- Getinet A, Rakow G, Raney JP, Downey RK (1994) Development of zero erucic acid Ethiopian mustard through an interspecific cross with zero erucic acid oriental mustard. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science* **74**, 793-795
- Girke A, Becker HC, Engqvist G (1999) Resynthesized rapeseed as a new gene pool for hybrid breeding. In: *Proceedings of the 10th International Rapeseed Congress* (GCIRC), Saskatoon, Canada, 26–29 Sept., Canberra, Australia, Contrib. 359
- **Girke A** (2002) New gene pools for hybrid breeding from resynthesized rapeseed. PhD thesis. FB Agrarwissenschaften, Georg-August-Universitaet Göttingen, 99 pp
- Girke A, Schierholt A, Becker H (2012) Extending the rapeseed genepool with resynthesized *Brassica napus* L. I: Genetic diversity. *Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution* 59, 1441-1447
- Grant I, Beversdorf WD (1985) Heterosis and combining ability estimates in spring-planted oilseed rape (*Brassica napus* L.). Canadian Journal of Genetics and Cytology 27, 472-478
- Kirk JTO, Oram RN (1978) Mustards as possible oil and protein crops for Australia. Journal Australian Agricultural Science 44, 143-156
- Kräling K (1987) Utilization of genetic variability of resynthesized rapeseed. Plant Breeding 99, 209-217
- Lefort-Buson M, Guillot-Lemoine B, Dattee Y (1987) Heterosis and combining ability estimates in spring oilseed rape (*Brassica napus L.*). Canadian Journal of Genetics and Cytology 27, 472-478
- Léon J (1991) Heterosis and mixing effects in winter oilseed rape. Crop Science 31, 281-284
- Li M, Chen X, Meng J (2006a) Intersubgenomic heterosis in rapeseed production with a partial new-typed *Brassica napus* containing subgenome Ar from *B. rapa* and Cc from *Brassica carinata*. Crop Science 46, 234-242
- Lukens LN, Pires JC, Leon E, Vogelzang R, Oslach L, Osborn T (2006) Patterns of sequence loss and cytosine methylation within a population of newly resynthesized *Brassica napus* allopolyploids. *Plant Physiology* 140, 336-348
- Lühs W, Voss A, Seyis F, Friedt W (1999) Molecular genetics of erucic acid content in the genus Brassica. In: *Proceedings of the 10th International Rapeseed Congress* (GCIRC), Saskatoon, Canada, 26–29 Sept., Canberra, Australia, CD-ROM
- Lühs W, Seyis F, Voss A, Friedt W (2000) Genetics of erucic acid content in Brassica oleracea seed oil. Czech Journal of Genetics and Plant Breeding 36, 116-120
- Lühs W, Seyis F, Snowdon R, Baetzel R, Friedt W (2002) Genetic improvement of *Brassica napus* by wide hybridisation. *GCIRC Bulletin* 18, 227-234
- Lydiate D, Sharpe AG, Parkin I (1995) Colinearity and homoelogous recombination between the A and C genomes of *Brassica napus*. In: *Proceedings 9th Interntioanl Rapeseed Congress* (GCIRC) Vol 4, Narayana Press, Gylling, Cambridge, UK, pp 1122-1124
- Morinaga T (1933) Interspecific hybridisation in *Brassica*: 5. The cytology of F1 hybrid of *B. carinata* and *B. alboglabra. Japanese Journal of Botany* 6, 467-475
- Morinaga T (1934) Interspecific hybridisation in *Brassica*: 6. The cytology of *B. juncea* and *B. nigra. Cytologia* 6, 62-67
- Paulmann W, Frauen M (1991) Einsatz von biotechnologischen Verfahren in der praktischen Rapszüchtung. 42. Arbeitstagung, Arbeitsgemeinschaft der Saatzuchtleiter, Vereinig. Österreich. Pflanzenzüchter, 26.-28. Nov. 1991, Gumpenstein, pp 173-182
- Paulmann W, Frauen M (1998) Erfahrungsbericht zur Entwicklung und Saatguterzeugung von restaurierten Winterraps-Hybridsorten. Bericht über die 48. Tagung der Arbeitsgemeinschaft der Saatzuchtleiter, BAL Gumpenstein, 25– 27 November, 1997

- Przybylski P, Mag T, Eskin NAM, McDonald BE (2005) Canola oil. In: Shahidi F (Ed) Bailey's Industrial Oil and Fat Products (6th Edn, Six Volume Set), John Wiley & Sons, Inc.,, New Jersey, pp 61-121
- Quijada PA, Udall JA, Polewicz H, Vogelzang RD, Osborn TC (2004) Phenotypic effects of introgressing French winter germplasm into hybrid spring canola. Crop Science 44, 1982-1989
- Renard M, Delourme R, Vallee P, Pierre J (1997) Hybrid rapesed breeding and production. Acta Horticulturae 459, 583-591
- Riaz A, Li G, Quresh Z, Swati MS, Quiros CF (2001) Genetic diversity of oilseed *Brassica napus* inbred lines based on sequence-related amplified polymorphism and its relation to hybrid performance. *Plant Breeding* 120, 411-415
- Sernyk JL, Stefansson BR (1983) Heterosis in summer rape (Brassica napus L.). Canadian Journal of Plant Science 63, 407-413
- Schuster W, Michael J (1976) Investigations into breeding depressions and heterosis effects in rape (*Brassica napus oleifera*). Zeitschrift für Pflanzenzüchtung 80, 277-298
- Seyis F, Snowdon RJ, Lühs W, Fried W (2003a) Molecular characterization of novel resynthesized rapeseed (*Brassica napus*) lines and analysis of their genetic diversity in comparison with spring rapeseed cultivars. *Plant Breeding* 122, 473-478
- Seyis F, Friedt W, Lühs W (2003b) Resynthesised Brassica napus as genetic resource in rapeseed improvement for quality and agronomic performance. In: Knüpffer H, Ochsmann J (Eds) Rudolf Mansfeld and Plant Genetic Resources. Proceedings of a Symposium Dedicated to the 100th birthday of Rudolf Mansfeld, Gatersleben, Germany, 8-9 October 2001. ZADI/IBV, Bonn, Schriften zu Genetischen Ressourcen 19, 336-340
- Seyis F, Friedt W, Voss A, Lühs W (2004) Identification of individual Brassica oleracea plants with low erucic acid content. Asian Journal of Plant Sciences 3 (5), 593-596
- Seyis F, Friedt W, Lühs W (2005a) Yield of *Brassica napus* L. hybrids developed using resynthesised rapeseed material sown at different locations. *Field Crops Research* 96, 176-180
- Seyis F, Friedt W, Lühs W (2005b) Development of resynthesized rapeseed (*Brassica napus* L.) forms with low erucic acid content through *in ovulum* culture. *Asian Journal of Plant Sciences* 4 (1), 6-10
- Seyis F, Friedt W (2010a) *Brassica oleracea* genotypes displaying interesting fatty acid profiles for *Brassica napus* breeding. *African Journal of Agricultural Research* 5 (23), 3191-3195
- Seyis F, Lühs W, Friedt W (2010b) Yield of Brassica napus L. hybrids developed using resynthesised rapeseed material. Anadolu Journal of Agricultural Sciences 25 (3), 159-167
- Seyis F, Kurt O, Uysal H (2010c) Development of resynthesised rapeseed forms with low erucic acid character and their use in hybrid breeding. *TUBI-TAK TOVAG 104563 Career Project*, pp 58
- Shen J-X, Fu,T-D, Yang G-S, Tu J-X, Mia C-Z (2006) Prediction of heterosis using QTLs for yield traits in rapeseed (*Brassica napus* L.). Euphytica 151, 165-171
- Snowdon RJ (2007) Cytogenetics and genome analysis in Brassica crops. Chromosome Research 15, 85-95
- Snowdon RJ (2009) Genome analysis and molecular breeding of *Brassica* oilseed crops. *Habilitationsschrift*. İnstitut für Pflanzenzchtung. Justus-Liebig-Universitaet Giessen
- Snowdon R, Lühs W, Friedt W (2007) Oilseed rape. In: Kole E (Ed) Series Genome Mapping and Molecular Breeding in Plants (Vol 2) Oilseeds, Springer, Berlin, pp 55-114
- Song K, Lu P, Tang K, Osborn TC (1993) Development of synthetic *Brassica* amphidiploids by reciprocal hybridization and comparison to natural amhidiploids. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 86, 811-821
- Song K, Lu P, Tang K, Osborn TC (1995) Rapid genome change in synthetic polyploids of *Brassica* and its implications for polyploid evolution. *Proceed*ings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 92, 7719-7723
- Stefansson BR, Hougen FW, Downey RK (1961) Note on the isolation of rape plants with seed oil free from erucic acid. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science* 41, 218-219
- Stefansson BR, Hougen FW (1964) Selection of rape plants (Brassica napus) with seed oil practically free of erucic acid. Canadian Journal of Plant Science 44, 359-364
- Steinmetz KA, Potter JD (1996) Vegetable, fruit and cancer epidemiology. Cancer Causes and Control 2, 325-351
- U N (1935) Genomic analysis of *Brassica* with special reference to the experimental formation of *B. napus* and peculiar mode of fertilization. *Japanese Journal of Botany* 7, 389-452
- Udall JA, Quijada PA, Polewicz H, Vogelzang R, Osborn TC (2004) Phenotypic effects of introgressing Chinese winter and resynthesized *Brassica* napus L. germplasm into hybrid spring canola. Crop Science 44, 1990-1996
- Wricke G, Weber WE (1986) Quantitative Genetics and Selection in Plant Breeding, Walter de Gruyter, New York, 406 pp